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To Aaron, Mon Chéri


“Maybe it was on a list somewhere, the name, where I come from and so on.

But in the camp no names were used.”

—STEPAN SAIKA, SURVIVOR


      

Chapter One

      

White Bear Lake, Minnesota

July 2011

As I lifted the nearly weightless pages off my desk, I was surprised to realize I had forgotten so many things. The decades-old paper felt simultaneously soft and brittle. The ink had faded to a brackish gray. Tiny tears and wrinkles created a feather-like ruff along the edges. Translucent blue grid lines filled the background of one yellowed page. A papermaker’s watermark was embedded into the fibers of another. It seemed impossible I could have forgotten how the handwriting went to the very edge of some pages, and that watery blue and red stripes had been brushed across the background of others.

My eyebrows arched. How could I have forgotten about the postage stamps bearing Hitler’s profile?

Yet I intimately knew the alphabet of letters that filled these five pages. The roundness of each curve, the width and angle of each straight letterstroke: every nick and loop of this writing was as familiar as my own.

No. I corrected myself. I knew this handwriting better.

I turned the top letter over and skimmed past paragraphs I could not read, until my eye landed on the flourished signature in the bottom corner: Marcel. The l looped backward to form a proud, angled line underneath his name. I tried to recall how long these letters had been pressed flat inside the sketchbook in my office closet. Had it been two years? Four? More?

I carefully set the letter down and looked at the next piece of paper. The small postcard had been mailed from Berlin to a place called Berchères-la-Maingot. The blotchy cancellation mark read 1944. “Sprache Französische” had been scrawled in tiny cursive along the top edge. Armed with a single year of high school German, I guessed that said “written in French.”

As I set the postcard down, I focused on the letter that had seized my attention all those years ago. It wasn’t even the entire letter, actually. It was one letter: the M. The left stem of the M in the greeting “Mes chères petites” swept far to the side and ended with a sweet little loop.

The affection infused into that greeting was undeniable, yet I did not know precisely what that meant. My dear? My little darling?

The thought was fleeting, but definitive: I should translate one letter. After all this time, it would be interesting to find out what “Mes chères petites” actually meant. And even if the letter didn’t say anything interesting, I might learn who Marcel was, and why his letters had been mailed from Berlin to France during the depths of World War II.

Aaron and I ate dinner in the living room as we watched the evening news. He sat on the couch; I sat on the chair, as if we had assigned seats. The tsunami in Japan had been four months earlier, but the story still made headlines because of the leaking radiation. Protests in Egypt and Libya were gaining attention as stories about bin Laden, who had been killed two months earlier, had started to fade.

“What’s your plan for the evening?” I asked.

Aaron looked gray and spent from long shifts at the hospital, so I did not expect he would do anything other than watch television. He nestled deeper into the couch, confirming my guess. “You?”

I nodded in the direction of my office. I had been freelancing out of a home office for nearly ten years. Tidying up the day’s loose ends had become a familiar after-dinner activity.

“I’ll take Hoover out later,” I promised, hoping the day’s blistering temperature would dip low enough to safely take our old black-furred retriever out for a walk.

An hour or so later, after wrapping up client work, I slid Marcel’s five letters to the center of my desk. Spending time on personal projects was my reward for a long day; a creative respite from routine tasks. And working on personal projects only after paying work was done allowed me to keep the promise I made to Aaron long ago.

That morning, I had decided not to return the letters to their home, pressed flat under the cover of the sketchbook in my office closet. All day, the five handwritten letters lay on my desk, intermittently covered and uncovered as I cycled through project paperwork.

Instead of opening the font file, I decided to pursue that morning’s curiosity and find out what Marcel’s letter said. I moved the letter with the beautiful swash M in front of me, and typed the first sentence into a website that provided free French-to-English translation. C’est aujour cl’hui, le printemps, et il fait un temps superbe, cet apris midi, Moutardier cloit venir me voir, en l’attendant, je reponds a votre gentille petite lettre qui m a fait beaucoup plaiser. The translation read: “It is cl today, the spring, and the weather is beautiful, this learned midi, successive dentals end must come to see me, in the meantime, I am responding to your sweet little letter which m has done much plaiser.”

My shoulders sank. I had purchased the letters because I knew Marcel’s cursive handwriting would make a beautiful font, but deciphering his writing as words rather than individual letters was a challenge. Lowercase s’s looked similar to i’s; e’s looked like o’s. And since I did not know French, I could not tell whether I was interpreting the words correctly.

The next sentence resulted in an equally garbled, worthless translation. I shook my head, stood up, and returned the letters to the sketchbook in the closet.

I settled back into my chair and rolled to face the two large side-by-side computer monitors. As the font file opened, a familiar grid of tiny black letters appeared. I opened the Preview Panel—the window that allowed me to view and test strings of letters or whole words—and stared at the blank screen. I positioned my hands over the keyboard and slowly typed the only words that came to mind: Mes chères petites.

As I scrutinized the grave over the è and the sweeping lead-in stroke of the p, I decided to have one letter professionally translated. Throwing away hard-earned money on a translation I did not need to read just to satiate a curiosity was folly, an impractical waste of money. I understood the translation might not serve any purpose other than providing a momentary diversion from the seemingly endless rounds of tweaks and revisions. But after being reminded of the letters’ raw beauty—full of color and texture and history—my curiosity had been piqued.

The next day I began to search for a translator. Most of the translation service providers I found seemed to be brokers who sent documents who knew where to be translated by who knew whom. I preferred to find someone local. It even crossed my mind to hire a college student who might work for a case of beer, though—as I envisioned the Hitler stamps—I decided it would be prudent to find someone who would provide a bit more discretion.

“I am a local graphic designer,” I wrote to names on a list of potential translation vendors provided by a French language school in Minneapolis. “I have a handwritten letter from World War II that I would like to have translated. It is two pages long. I can pick out a few words, including Paris and cinema, and a reference to 1,300 kilometers.”

Responses trickled in. One person’s curt email just listed a per-word translation rate. Another person expressed interest, but the error-filled email did not bolster confidence in the quality of his work.

The email that caught my attention was from a man named Tom. “A personal letter will be a nice break from the birth certificates and academic records that are the bulk of my translation work,” he wrote. “I will need to see the letter to give you an accurate quote. Price depends on word count and vocabulary. Please scan and email the letter to this address. I will, of course, treat it confidentially.” I appreciated Tom’s fair approach to pricing, and took comfort in his proactive promise of confidentiality.

I retrieved the sketchbook from the closet and withdrew the letter with the big, beautiful M. The surface of the tissue-thin yellowed paper had a faint ribbed texture. One corner was dog-eared. The ink had probably once been black, though it was now a faded gray-brown. The sheet of paper had a distinct horizontal crease across the center; I assumed that meant it had been folded in half before being placed inside some long-lost envelope. Watery, parallel blue and red stripes—proud colors of the French flag—extended down the entire page. At least, I guessed the stripe had once been red; it had faded to a rosy pink. The numbers 4220 were jotted in pencil near the top. I tried to recall whether that had been some inventory number scribbled by the antique shop where I purchased the letters.

The handwriting in this letter was neater and larger than the writing on any of the other letters. It was as if Marcel had written slowly and taken the utmost care. Some lines had as few as five words; other lines had seven or eight.

After scanning the front and back, I emailed the files to Tom. He outlined his price, sixty dollars, and an estimated turnaround time before summarizing the content: “It is a sweet, loving letter from a lonely father to his daughters.”

My head snapped back. It’s to children?

All these years I assumed the letters had been from a man to a woman. I had hoped for romance! I had imagined the flourished greeting was followed by confessions of affection from a heartsick soldier to a faraway girlfriend. Or that the page had been filled by a husband, resting between military maneuvers, lavishing his wife with words of love. It had never once crossed my mind it might be a letter from a father to children, though the large, careful writing now made sense.

Despite the twang of disappointment, I approved Tom’s estimate. I confirmed his suggested turnaround time of a couple of weeks was fine, and assured him a check would go out in the next day’s mail. If nothing else, I figured, I would learn a thing or two about the man whose handwriting I knew so well.
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Letter One

      

Marienfelde, Germany

March 21

Sunday at three o’clock

You can tell Mom that today I’m eating the last of the beans and that she can send some more. Love and kisses from Papa to everyone.

My dear little girls,

Today it’s springtime and the weather is excellent. This afternoon Moutardier should come to see me, so while waiting for him I’ll reply to your very kind letter, which pleased me very much. Before writing to you I did my laundry. Once it’s dry I will have quite a bit of mending to do. It would be great to have one of you two with me.

So I see that you had a good time at Mardi Gras. I hope that you didn’t scare Lily or little Jacqueline. In the meantime you should go pick violets in the Billé woods.

This morning I had some bad luck. While combing my hair, my comb broke in my hand. You can tell Mom that she can send me another one.

Denise, I would like to receive a letter from you, so you can tell me what you did in Montreuil. Did you go to the movies with Mom? Did you go shopping by yourself?

And what about you, Suzanne? Were you the one getting the milk and bread while Mom was in Paris? As for Lily, I’m glad that she’s no longer sucking her thumb. I recommend that she doesn’t pick the blossoms from the cherry tree or the pear trees. She should wait until the fruit is ripe.

My dear little ones I don’t have much else to tell you today. I recommend that you be on your best behavior.

Please give my love to your mother, hug her a lot, and the same for Grandma too. Your Papa who sends his love from 1,300 kilometers away. Your Papa who thinks about you all the time.

Papa


      

Chapter Two

      

White Bear Lake, Minnesota

August 2011

“It’s heartbreaking to hear how much he missed his girls,” I wrote to Tom. I could not tell his daughters’ ages. Lily and Jacqueline sounded quite young. Denise and Suzanne sounded older, though I could not determine who was oldest. How old would someone be to fetch milk on her own? Twelve? Thirteen? “It makes me even more curious to know why he was so far away from his family,” I wrote.

Marcel did not sound like a soldier; a soldier should not have to buy his own beans. He did not sound like a businessman either; a businessman would have been able to buy a comb. And it seemed unlikely a businessman would be wearing clothes that needed so much mending. But if he hadn’t been a soldier or a businessman, why had he been in Berlin?

Tom messaged back immediately. He had only seen the March 21 date, not a year, and wondered whether Marcel might have worked in Berlin’s French sector after the war.

I retrieved the other letters from the sketchbook and examined them for dates and clues. The other letters had been written in 1943 and 1944, so I reviewed an online calendar for springtime Sundays that were the 21st. March 21, 1943, had been a Sunday—the only March 21 that fell on a Sunday between 1937 and 1948, so 1943 seemed to be a safe bet. But that meant Marcel had written the letter two years before the war’s end.

Could he have been a prisoner of war? The thought made me gasp.

I typed “Marienfelde” into a search engine. The first article to appear outlined Marienfelde’s history as the site of a refugee center for East Germans escaping to the west. Had Marcel been a refugee? But, then I read the refugee camp did not open until 1953, a full decade after he had written the letter.

The days that followed were busy with client work, but questions swirled in the back of my mind: Why had Marcel been in Berlin? How long had he been there? How did his letters end up in an antique store in Stillwater, Minnesota?

It would take years to understand why Marcel’s letters secured a place inside of me as they did. The connection had been immediate. Unequivocal. Marcel’s words to his daughters were like fishing hooks that curled into muscle and skin. Men writing tender expressions of love did not exist in my world, and the affection Marcel showed his family was undeniably enchanting. Intoxicating, even.

When Tom agreed to translate a second letter, I reviewed the remaining pages to determine which one to send next. I chose the longest letter, figuring the volume meant it would be most likely to hold answers. The letter was a single piece of paper folded in half vertically to create four pages. I presumed Tom would want to see a scan to quote a price, so I carefully straightened the corners and scanned the front, then the interior left, then the interior right, then the back.

Some aspects were similar to the first letter. The page was the same size—about 5.5” by 8”. Stripes of blue and red had been brushed across the page, though instead of running vertically, these were at an angle, and in places the thick paint made Marcel’s writing nearly indecipherable. A second, horizontal crease indicated this letter had been folded in half, too.

Differences existed: this paper was thicker, whiter, and a papermaker’s watermark made it feel like official stationery. The ink was blue, not gray-brown, and the writing was considerably smaller. In places, three or four words fit in an inch of space. And each line of text went to the very edge, as though Marcel wanted to make use of every precious fragment of space.

I was about to email the scans to Tom, but stopped and let out a long sigh.

Then I deleted the first scan from the email.

I opened the original scan in Photoshop and magnified the upper left-hand corner. Using one of Photoshop’s retouching tools, I carefully eliminated every trace of a small, hand-drawn swastika.

On the day I had bought the letters, the handwriting’s loops and curves were all that mattered. The odd little swastika had not been important. Not that it wasn’t important, but it didn’t factor as a reason to buy, or not buy, the letter it was on. To me, the wobbly, intertwined lines were a relic of the era, no different than the Hitler stamps or the cancellation mark from Berlin. But after reading Marcel’s loving words, the swastika now made me confused and uncomfortable—especially since it appeared to be in his handwriting. Marcel no longer felt like just a name—he was a man whose daughters picked violets and went to Mardi Gras. A man who sent love and kisses from afar. It was as if Marcel were on a piece of photographic paper slowly being swished back and forth in a bath of developing chemicals. The image had not yet started to appear, but I did not want the swastika to be the only thing to become visible.

After Tom received the email with the retouched scan, he provided an estimate of $320. I was displeased about the expense, but I approved it. I had been unable to get Marcel out of my mind, and I hoped this letter would answer all my questions. I wanted to put this folly—put Marcel—aside and get back to client work. Practical, paying client work.

Ten days later, Tom sent an email asking whether anything had been cut off of the scans. My heart lurched. How could he have known about the swastika? But, it turned out, he was referring to something else. He wondered whether I mixed up the page order or if I might have cut off a line when I scanned the pages. The sentences spanning the page breaks did not make sense; he had even tried switching the page order. With the exception of the swastika—which I still did not mention—I was confident the scan showed everything. Might another piece of paper have been folded in the middle? That scenario did not make sense either because the writing on the front page should have continued on to the backside of the same piece of paper.

I told Tom I did not have an answer.
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Letter Two

      

Marienfelde, Germany

Sunday The 12th

[image: image] for the class and by the will of God. Hugs and kisses from Papa who thinks about you a lot. Papa

My darling,

Today, Sunday, it is one-thirty and I am in the barracks with Marcel, Mimile and Bernard. We don’t know what to do, so with Marcel we decide to write. The weather is terrible, one minute some beautiful sun that invites us to go for a walk, but a few minutes later it starts snowing. I wanted to go to the movies but then, because we’re not sure we can get tickets, I stayed here. Mimile is in the corner by the fire, like an old grandfather, and he sings to us, the Song of the Mason by Maurice Chevalier. In a little while there will be a soccer game behind the camp. If the weather holds I’ll go for a walk over there. Yesterday I sent you a card but the mail lady didn’t feel like working, and when I went to the post office to mail the letters, she was already gone. So the mail won’t go out until Monday afternoon. Some guys who were on leave have come back, and they said that in Paris they learned that their leaves were canceled. I’m quite happy

[1–2 page break]

at the same place, too bad for those who are lower on the list. The last one happened Wednesday, they demolished a bar about four kilometers from camp, a funny piece of work. Since then we sleep nice and quiet. Besides that, there’s not much news. Oh yes, today is the twelfth, exactly 14 months since I started working at Daimler, and today they were supposed to give us some tobacco, but they stuck their tongues out at us, another exercise to lighten our pocketbooks. Too bad that will be for next Sunday. Yesterday I received a letter from the boss, that’s depressing, all the letters I get say that they are waiting impatiently for me. That gets me down, growing two weeks older, but I shouldn’t think about that too much anymore. Okay enough with all the drama. Spring is here, and this year the gardens are in early. Will you be able to easily find a hired man, and did you get the trees put back in the garden? And what about the little plum trees that we put in at the beginning, will I maybe have the honor of eating some plums this year? I also received a letter from Dad. He says the peaches are still waiting for me. When I go there the weather will be nicer than it is now, and I will be able to tease the little fish a bit in the ferns and also in the pond at Gommier. As for me, you see, they thought that by this time there wouldn’t be much in the gardens and we wouldn’t be able to easily find food. I’ll stop here because I can’t think of anything else to tell you. I’ll leave my letter here but will return to it tonight. Today it’s me who is

[2–3 page break]

this you can see that I’m not making this up. For the past week we’ve been living the good life. I should explain a little bit. In the square there’s a guy from Amiens who has some tricks to get food. You can imagine how we are three big mouths, Mimile, Marcel, and me, we are served. It’s the wallet that finds this the funniest, because a one thousand bill only represents a little more than one kilo of bread. Yesterday we ate one kilo of cake, which was worth much more than one simple crêpe with blackberry jam. Actually that fills the stomach all the same. Speaking of crêpes, I decided to make some, since a friend gave me some flour. There you go just a little flour and water, with nothing to cook them with, funny looking crêpes. I also have to tell you about how I got a work suit yesterday. The work office gave them to us, but you should see me with, just imagine, the heavy fabric to wash like what we had before the war, and the same color, it’s made in Poland. All the French here will be wearing the same thing, just like the Russians who got them, so that now we won’t be able to tell each other apart. Let’s talk a little about the alerts. Our paper, the brave Écho de Nancy, talks about that, like a nice little tall tale, what a funny farce. Certainly they mistook the planes for crows. At the factory they told us that when the sirens go off, we can do as we please. Also you will see how we act like crazy little kids in the country because now they drop a whole bunch

[3–4 page break]

I will tell you what I did to them. I forgot to tell you that this is the first Sunday I’m spending in the square, because up until now I was working on Sundays. So this morning I took advantage of it, I got up at 9 o’clock. I started to read a nice book, but it got me dizzy because it was only talking about eating and beautiful women, all the things that are not allowed. I’ll write more tonight, because if I continue now I’ll run out of room. I sorted through my mail. I tossed all my letters because when we leave here, I’ll have to leave them at the border. Here’s a big kiss while waiting for tonight. We’re going to the game. Mimile says he’s going to send you the holes in his socks, so what can I say. I think the censor guy will have some work to do. Okay now I’m writing again after having eaten. I made them a blanquette of veal with the veal bones that a friend gave me, and a small piece of lard, we stuffed ourselves, with potatoes, not with meat. Mimile acted like a dog, going after the bones. At the moment he’s doing the dishes but not like Tommy. The sun was shining bright when we were leaving for the soccer game so I made a crease in my pants. That didn’t last long, not the crease, the sun, so Marcel and I came back at halftime because we were cold.

I don’t have much else to tell you for today. I’m going to go to bed and continue reading my book. You see I am reasonable, it is ten minutes before eight. I’ll bet my daughters are not yet in bed. Are they still arguing with you about their bedtime? When I come back they will have a hard time with that. Meanwhile we can talk a bit to try to get the compensation for the accident, because I think that after 14 months they should think about paying us. For the moment I would really like if it were already tomorrow evening at the mailbox. I don’t get much news these days. Please give a big hello to Mr. and Mrs. Gommier and the little Jacqueline, she’s walking by herself now. Do they have any good news from Daniel? Today I thought about Mrs. Jumentier and Mrs. Leduc, I don’t know why. Please tell them hello from me also. My little treasure, I will end my letter due to lack of space. Kiss my little daughters for me, as well as our dear mother. Your big guy who loves you with all his heart, and sends you his best love and kisses.

Marcel


      

Chapter Three

      

White Bear Lake, Minnesota

September 2011

I read the translated text, then read it again. Then I printed it out, walked into the living room, and read it to Aaron.

“Not what you were expecting, huh?” he said.

I tried to make sense of the information. Marcel used the words “barracks” and “camp.” He had been there fourteen months. Russians were there. Sirens went off. A guy had tricks to get food. He cooked veal bones. He had been given a uniform.

Yet, despite all that, his letter ended with tenderness. I sighed as I realized this was, in fact, a love letter. It was not the kind of love letter I expected, but it was a love letter. I did not know anything about his wife, but I hoped for Marcel’s sake she loved him as much as he loved her.

I took a deep breath and thought of that hand-drawn swastika. Why would Marcel, who was living in a barrack and mailing letters from Berlin, have drawn a swastika and written, “for the class and by the will of God”? Why would he have written “Hugs and kisses”? The words seemed inappropriately cheerful to be next to a swastika. Could he have been forced to draw it? Would it have helped the letter get past the censor he mentioned?

I tried imagining a scenario where Marcel might have been sincere, but it seemed impossible. More correctly: I did not want it to be possible.

I returned to my office and emailed Tom a note of thanks. He replied immediately, noting how touching he found Marcel’s words.

I felt oddly conflicted. Reading Marcel’s intimate words felt like an inappropriate violation of privacy. It made me feel like some kind of voyeur. Yet the letter piqued my curiosity, and I yearned to know more.

I typed “Daimler Marienfelde World War II” into a search engine. The first article to appear was on the Panzerkampfwagen V—the Panther tank. The Panther, the article stated, was a medium-size German tank known for its combination of firepower and mobility. I skimmed past paragraphs on armor, production counts, ammunition, and transmission and suspension specifications—details I did not care about—until these words caught my eye: “Demand for this tank was so high that manufacturing was soon expanded to include the Daimler-Benz Berlin-Marienfelde plant.”

My head snapped back. Marcel was making tanks? But Marcel was French—not German. Why would he make German tanks? I stared at my computer monitor, stunned.

I never imagined it could matter to me where a tank had been made. But the sentence on Marienfelde was like an invisible string pulling me to Marcel, and I wanted to grab hold and pull until I had answers.

“You coming to bed?” I jumped when I heard Aaron’s voice. I had been consumed by the article on Panther tanks and had not noticed he was leaning on the frame of my office door. I shook my head. It would be hours before I would be able to fall asleep.

“Don’t stay up all night.” He stepped into the office and kissed the top of my head.

I brought a copy of the translation and my laptop into the living room, sat on the couch, and read his letter again. And again. Each time, something different caught my attention: singing in the barrack, reading a book, planes being passed off as crows, an accident that happened fourteen months earlier.

Some passages would not make sense for many months, such as Marcel’s reference to “Écho de Nancy.” Later, I would learn L’Écho de Nancy was a French-language propaganda newspaper published during the war.

Berchères-la-Maingot, the place where his wife and daughters were, filled my imagination. Sometimes I envisioned the older girls, Suzanne and Denise, reading Marcel’s letter aloud to Lily and Jacqueline. Other times, I imagined his wife gently whispering his words as the girls slipped into a deep sleep. I envisioned the peach and plum trees, the neighbors who were friends, but not familiar enough to call by their first names.

I pulled up the online calendar again, thinking of Marcel’s proclamation, “spring is here.” The only springtime Sunday that was also the twelfth was March 12, 1944. Marcel noted he had been there for fourteen months. That fit the timeline if the first letter had, in fact, been from March 1943.

There were so many unknowns, so many questions. I took inventory of what I knew: Marcel’s first and last name, the names of his daughters, the address in Berchères-la-Maingot, and that he worked at a Daimler factory in Berlin. I realized I did not even know his wife’s name, since he only called her “my darling.”

There was only one place to start.

I pulled my laptop close, opened a search engine, and typed his name: M-a-r-c-e-l H-e-u-z-é.

Aaron lay on the couch, watching baseball on television. I sat in the armchair, legs propped on the coffee table, my laptop balanced on my knees. Hoover slept on the floor between us, snoring. It was as exciting as evenings got in our home, with two introverts and an old dog.

I had assumed answers to the basic questions—Who was Marcel? Did he survive? How long had he been there?—would be easy to find. But I had searched for weeks and was still seeking the first breadcrumb that would create a trail to Marcel. The only thing I had discovered so far was that “Heuzé” was an uncommon name.

“What’s wrong?” Aaron asked.

“What do you mean?” I looked up in surprise.

Without glancing away from the television, he dramatically mimicked the long, slow sigh I had released. I promised to try to contain other loud sighs as I continued scouring search results.

“I think I found something,” I eventually whispered.

Aaron did not respond, so I typed “Ravensbrück” into a search engine and read for another fifteen or twenty minutes. When I learned where Ravensbrück had been located, a lump began to form in my throat. It grew so big it felt impossible to swallow.

“I found him.” My voice crackled as the words came out.

“Found who?” Aaron still did not turn away from the television.

I looked up over the top of my glasses and almost asked who else he thought I was searching for. “Marcel.”

Aaron swiveled his head to look at me. I shook my head and outlined what I found: a French citizen named Marcel Heuzé had been killed April 26, 1945, at the Ravensbrück concentration camp. “April 26 was four days before the camp was liberated. Ravensbrück was only fifty miles from Berlin,” I explained. Moments earlier, when I looked at the map and saw how close it was to Berlin, I had the sickening realization that close would have also meant conveniently located.

“It says Marcel was a pastor.” I had been surprised to see that profession listed, but then recalled he had scribbled, “by the will of God,” next to the swastika.

“His wife’s name was Simone.” Simone’s death had been listed as “sometime between 1979 and 1993,” which meant she had outlived him by at least thirty-four years. I stopped and took a slow, deep breath as a wave of sadness washed over me.

After a long silence, Aaron offered his condolence. He turned back to the television, but a few minutes later he added, “You knew that was probably going to be the outcome, right?”

“I hoped it wasn’t.”

Ravensbrück had been the Reich’s largest concentration camp for women. The 130,000 women who cycled through Ravensbrück represented every country Germany occupied. Beatings, starvation, medical experiments, back-breaking labor, and forced prostitution made Ravensbrück a “special kind of hell.”

Yet, nothing I read had explained why Marcel would have been at a women’s camp.

A small camp for men had been built adjacent to Ravensbrück’s main camp, I eventually learned. For four months in 1945, men gassed the women, then burned their bodies in Ravensbrück’s crematorium. Considering the tender words Marcel had written to his wife and daughters, the thought that he might have been responsible for burning the bodies of women and children made my heart feel as if it had been cleaved in two. How could anyone—especially a pastor—have done that?

How could he have lived with that?

He didn’t, I reminded myself. Marcel didn’t live. As the reality of the situation soaked in, a thick cloud of grief seemed to settle over me.

The record did not show when Marcel had been transferred to Ravensbrück. I hoped he had only been there minutes, or hours, or days. I hoped he had not been there long enough to work the crematorium, or to witness the murder of thousands of women and children.

Aaron turned my way. “If the Germans hadn’t killed him, it’s likely we would have, you know.”

“Why’s that?” My eyebrows soared.

“You told me the factory where he worked made tanks, right? What would be a higher-value military target than a factory making German tanks? We probably bombed the shit out of it,” he said with a shrug. “Collateral damage.”

I did not say anything, and he turned back to the television. After a few minutes, he added more. “A worst-case scenario would have been if he was still there when the Russians took Berlin. They were ruthless motherfuckers.”

I knew he was trying to help me understand, but I wanted him to stop. I did not want to hear another word, yet I felt compelled to ask what he meant. “The Russians suffered under the Germans, right? So, when they took Berlin, they were merciless. If the Russians got him, he might have spent the rest of his miserable life in a coal mine in Siberia.” After a few moments, he quietly added, “Ravensbrück could have been a small mercy over the Russians.”

I read what some Russians had done when they liberated Ravensbrück. Only three thousand women—those who were too weak to take part in the evacuation march—were still alive when the Russians entered the camp. Many women were raped, even if they were pregnant or were Russian themselves.

“You’re not making me feel any better, you know,” I said.

Aaron turned back to the television. The game and Hoover’s snoring filled the void with sound.

“Can you imagine?” I tried wrapping my head around the situation. “You’re working at a factory a thousand miles from the people you love. That factory is making tanks for the Nazis. Those tanks are killing the people who are trying to liberate your country. If the Allies are going to succeed, they need to destroy the factory where you’re working.”

It was a desperate, no-win situation every way I looked at it.

The next evening, after cleaning up dinner dishes, I headed to my office, and Aaron retreated to the garage to tinker on one of his projects.

After wrapping up the day’s unfinished business, I opened the font file and stared at a grid of nearly four hundred rectangles, each one filled with a number, an upper or lowercase letter, or two-letter ligatures such as Of, or Fr, or bb. The font represented so many hours of work. Years of work.

How could I not have known?

Guilt surged through me. After scrutinizing Marcel’s handwriting for so many years, it felt as if some how—some way—I should have known Marcel died. It was as if I expected the fibers in the paper would have transferred that information to the muscle fibers in my fingers when I first held his letters.

I should have known.

I opened the Preview Panel and slowly typed the only word that came to mind: R-a-v-e-n-s-b-r-ü-c-k. The letters looked correct: the a looked like an a, the s looked like an s. Yet every curve felt backward, every arc inverted. Seeing that word—the place where Marcel had been killed—written in a font based on his handwriting sent a shiver down my spine.

I rolled my chair backward, rested my elbows on my knees, and knitted my fingers together as the word “Ravensbrück” glowed above me on the screen. Thoughts battled inside my head. How could I finish the font knowing it was based on the handwriting of someone killed in a concentration camp? But, after all these years, could I abandon the project? Could the font be a testament to Marcel? Was that even appropriate? Could I finish the font and not identify the source?

I stood up, closed the file, and walked out of the office.

Hoover lay on the living room floor; I stretched out beside him. His tail began to drum the floor as I stroked his silken ears. He was still big and strong, though he rarely chased squirrels or rabbits out of our yard anymore. Instead, he offered dramatic sighs when we disrupted his naps, and grumped disapproval when treats or walks were delayed. But our sweet boy still gave us more love than we could measure.

“Let’s go see Daddy,” I whispered. Hoover jerked to his feet and trotted to the kitchen door. I slipped on shoes and grabbed one of Aaron’s old plaid flannel shirts off a hook on the wall.

The scratchy play-by-play of a baseball game radiated from a radio perched above Aaron’s garage workbench. When he saw us walking toward him, he turned the volume down and pushed a metal stool my way. I sat down, wrapping his shirt tight around me.

We chatted for a few minutes, then he turned his attention back to his project. Occasionally, an excited outburst by the announcer filled the void, though to me, his words were like static. I did not tell Aaron about the battle that waged inside my head. The font was my project—my problem—to sort out. Not his.

A numbed sadness filled me for days, though the sadness was confusing. Marcel wasn’t family. And intellectually, whenever I bought old handwritten letters, I understood, if not assumed, the person who had written them had long since passed. Perhaps it was because of where he died, but the unexpected, complicated grief that was unleashed after learning his fate felt like a lead weight slowing down the beating of my heart. Fifty million people died in World War II; why did I think Marcel would not have been part of that statistic?

I needed to see the listing of Marcel’s death again to convince myself it was true in the way someone might need to read a medical diagnosis over and over before accepting the result. I returned to the website, which was a registry of Protestants persecuted for their faith. After staring at Marcel’s record, I scrolled through page after page of other names. The registry contained exhaustive detail, and once I better understood how the document was organized, I was surprised to realize no children had been listed for Marcel and Simone. It seemed like a significant oversight that Suzanne, Denise, and Lily were not included. (After rereading both letters, I had begun to doubt whether Jacqueline was one of Marcel’s daughters; it seemed more likely she was a member of the Gommier family.)

The registry listed Marcel’s birth year as 1897, which meant he had been forty-eight when he died—years older than what I had expected. I ran a quick calculation: knowing people often got married younger decades ago, if Marcel had been twenty or twenty-one when he got married, then if they had children right away, and if the girls were twelve or thirteen—old enough to fetch milk on their own—Marcel might have only been thirty-four.

Maybe—just maybe—between the age difference and the fact daughters were not listed, this was a different Frenchman named Marcel Heuzé. My heart soared at the possibility.

My Marcel might have lived!

My Marcel. The corners of my mouth curled into a smile when I realized I had thought of him as my Marcel.

I smiled even more as I realized this was a second chance to search for—to hope for—a happy ending for my Marcel.


      

Chapter Four

      

Wisconsin—Texas—Minnesota

1980 to 2011

When I was just ten or eleven, one of my uncles made this suggestion: “When you grow up,” he said, “you should get a job at a museum inking tiny inventory numbers onto dinosaur bones.” I gazed up at him in wonder. I had never seen a dinosaur bone before, but I liked the idea if that meant people would notice my tidy handwriting.

I had always been fastidious about my handwriting. Posters and class projects would be carefully penciled before I ever dared trace over the words with a marker. In math class, columns of numbers were always precisely aligned. Sometimes I copied English assignments over and over until my longhand looked just so.

For my twelfth birthday, my parents gave me a Ken Brown Method Calligraphy Kit. The kit included eight chisel-tip markers filled with a variety of colored inks, practice pages with angled guidelines, and thick sheets of gold and white parchment. The instruction booklet outlined the fourteen individual pen strokes required to master proper Chancery Cursive lettering: vertical and horizontal strokes, top curves used on letters such as a or o, bottom curves used on letters u or c.

The words ELEGANT WRITER were screen-printed onto the barrel of each marker in Ken Brown’s masterful scrolled lettering. To me, those plastic markers were like magic wands, and holding them in my still-growing hands made me feel ennobled with the gift of beautiful writing. Evenings, after schoolwork was done, and after the ducks and geese and our three sheep were fed and penned for the night, I would sit at our plastic-covered dining room table and compose words using the fourteen pen strokes combined with “swift uplifting movements” for the flared finishing details.

Despite diligent practice, the curves and lines of my letters were never perfect. Or never perfect enough. The felt tips of Ken Brown’s markers lacked precise edges, which could result in rough curves and wobbly lines. Often I would write a letter or two, maybe a word, then furiously scribble through the flaws. Other times, I completed a few lines before crumpling the paper and starting over on a fresh sheet. Even at that young age, an unforgiving drive for perfection could rear its ugly head.

For my thirteenth birthday, I received a set of Schaeffer pens with interchangeable metal nibs and disposable ink cartridges. The pens came with an entirely different instruction book, so for months I studied Schaeffer-style lettering. I expected the metal nibs would allow my letters to be smooth and perfect. But they weren’t. Imprecision always haunted my curves and lines, and every flaw felt like an amplified reflection of my own imperfections.

The summer before my fourteenth birthday, we butchered the ducks and geese and sold our sheep. My parents traded our home in rural southern Wisconsin—an idyllic place surrounded by vast cornfields and rolling pastures dotted with thick groves of oak trees—for a split-level home in a sprawling suburb of St. Paul, Minnesota. The impossibly cool things in my huge new school—designer jeans and big hair—trumped hand lettering. The Ken Brown Method Calligraphy Kit, gold parchment paper, and the Schaeffer pens remained inside a box tucked underneath my twin bed in the room I shared with my older sister.

Lettering did not cross my mind again until college.

“Letterform” was a fundamental course for graphic design majors. It was the equivalent of a pre-med student studying anatomy, a science major studying calculus. If Letterform students did not show interest in, or sensitivity to, proportion or scale, or could not be bothered with craftsmanship, it was a warning sign they might not be cut out for the graphic design program.

We began by studying typefaces designed by the fifteenth to eighteenth-century masters: Claude Garamond, William Caslon, John Baskerville, Giambattista Bodoni. We learned to identify the surprisingly anatomic-like parts of letters: arms, legs, ears, eyes, tails, shoulders, feet, spines, hairlines. Perhaps that was no coincidence; to a person who loved typography, every nuance in a letter’s shape could be as beautiful and as individual as a human body.

After studying classes of typefaces—sans serif, slab serif, Didone, Humanist, Blackletter—our professor sought to reinforce lessons on shape and proportion by having us replicate letters in that style. We would begin each assignment by penciling a grid onto an oversized sheet of thick white paper. Then, we constructed letters, paying exacting attention to the subtleties of curves, the thickness of stems, the lengths of serifs, the vertical placement of crossbars.

The tiniest wobble in a curve, the slightest mismeasurement in the width of a serif, or any inconsistency in the width of a stem were flaws that would incur demerits from Professor DeHoff. He was not being captious—he wanted to share his passion for letterforms. He wrote detailed notes on assignments to help us understand the imperfections: “This is a hair too flat; push the curve a tiny bit more,” “Hairlines should be a bit thinner,” or “Slim down the stresses.” He encouraged keen observation by noting, “Do you see how this O looks in comparison to the C?” or “The spine angle in the S is a bit off—look again.” He ensured we respected the personality of each typeface with notes such as, “This is an elegant face, keep that feeling as you work.” And he gently reinforced class lessons with notations such as, “Remember, swells should be a little heavier than normal stems.”

As the semester progressed, grades were based not only on the shape of individual letters, but on the placement of letters in relation to other letters. Letters that were too close together or too far apart would disrupt the rhythm of the letters and destroy the visual harmony of a word. To revise the spaces, every letter had to be reconstructed and redrawn. Assignments were tedious, time consuming, and maddening.

Even though I earned an A in Professor DeHoff’s class, it never crossed my mind to design a font. That seemed to be the purview of long-dead European masters and foundries who cast type from molten metal, not nineteen-year-olds attending college in Menomonie, Wisconsin. Besides, my focus was on advancing through the graphic design coursework so I could enter the emerging world of desktop publishing.

The first years of my career were spent at a prestigious graphic design firm in downtown Minneapolis. My boss, Tim, had a reputation for exacting craftsmanship, and as we designed annual reports, marketing brochures, and corporate identity systems, we researched and tested typefaces, then spent hours detailing type to ensure aesthetic harmony. A dog-eared, sticky-note-filled copy of Robert Bringhurst’s The Elements of Typographic Style became my bible.

One of my favorite projects from those years was the design of an annual report for an environmental organization preserving vast swaths of Northern Tallgrass Prairie. Spectacular photos of bushy magenta wildflowers, wild grasses bending in the breeze, and yellow coneflowers reaching skyward accompanied pages of carefully set type.

To help tell the story of what the prairie looked like one hundred and fifty years earlier, the annual report’s cover featured a journal entry from June 1840, written by a pioneer named Eliza Steele. “We passed whole acres of blossoms all bearing one hue, as purple, perhaps, or masses of yellow or rose; or narrow bands, as if a rainbow had fallen upon the verdant slopes. When the sun flooded this Mosaic floor with light and the summer breeze stirred among their leaves, the iridescent glow was beautiful and wondrous beyond anything I have ever conceived.” Eliza’s journal had been written with indigo ink on mottled, off-white parchment paper. A flourished signature decorated the bottom of the page, and splotches and stains seemed to prove the rugged conditions of her cross-continental journey.

The scratchy old handwriting, lyrical words, and expressive longhand seemed to throw open a window to Eliza’s soul, and it brought her to life to such a degree people were thoroughly convinced she had been a real pioneer writing by lantern-light in the back of a covered wagon. But she wasn’t. Tim and I conjured Eliza from our imaginations. Her name had been invented. Her words had been carefully copy-written. And the lettering had been completed by a man in Florida named Jack.

But what Eliza—what the project—did was this: the handwriting’s expressive individuality reawakened the thirteen-year-old inside of me who had had a passion for handwriting. And for the first time in a decade, I took out my Schaeffer metal-nib pens and began to play.

Aaron did not say a word as he slid the heavy envelope across the table. He did not have to tell me what was inside; the thickness revealed the answer. He had been accepted. Months earlier, he had traveled from Minneapolis to Dallas to interview for a trauma nurse fellowship at Parkland Hospital. The fellowship was a career-altering opportunity for him, and after working for Tim for four years, I was ready for a change. We packed a U-Haul with hand-me-down furniture, clothes, books, and the television we purchased with the money we were given at our wedding eleven months earlier.

“It will be an adventure,” Aaron promised as we drove nine hundred miles south.

I took a job as an art director at an advertising agency. I developed concepts and layouts, then production artists completed the work. After a project was passed to the production department, I rarely saw it again. A handful of times, the final product made my heart sink: type had been horizontally scaled to accommodate a last-minute addition, or the space between lines had been reduced to squeeze in an extra line of text. I offered to detail the type, but was told it was not my job. It felt as though every skill I honed while working for Tim was roundly dismissed.

In less than a year, our grand adventure felt like a failure. Our bicycles were stolen. Our apartment became infested with rats, then with fleas. Aaron and I squabbled about money, and I was furious he had not disclosed the enormity of his student loans—loans that came due shortly after our move. For a while we shared one car, which meant as soon as I got home from work he left for the hospital. We struggled to communicate, and I did not know how to tell him I felt abandoned.

I grew up in a family that kept emotions and opinions strictly in check. We did not yell or fight. Confrontation was avoided. We were loved, though love was not openly demonstrated. We were typical farm-background Midwesterners: proudly stoic, practical, industrious. Never too excited, never too sad. In contrast, Aaron grew up in a family that could hurl insults with the force of baseballs. So when Aaron and I argued about money, the car, yet another rat, or one of the hundred other things we had to figure out those first years, he yelled. I hid in the bathroom.

Aaron was contractually obligated to remain at Parkland Hospital, but I did not think I could stay. One lonely evening I walked through the apartment and made a mental list of how we might divide our belongings. I would take my books and clothes. He could keep the new television.

Yet my need to stay was greater than the compulsion to leave. Aaron made me laugh. He coaxed me out of my shell. His irreverence was oxygen to my suffocating sense of decorum. And Aaron claimed my calm demeanor helped him realize he did not have to react to everything with anger. It was the first time he had ever felt that way. We were good together.

We killed the rats and fogged the fleas. We chipped away at the loans. We learned how to talk to each other and tried to embrace all that Texas had to offer. I cooked tortilla soup and baked pecan pie. We drove meandering rural roads seeking explosions of wild bluebonnet or Indian blanket. We went to a rodeo and to a dance hall with a saddle-shaped disco ball.

It was during those months of trying to embrace Texas that I learned about Thomas Jefferson Rusk. One hundred fifty years earlier, the stern-looking Rusk had been a major general in the Republic of Texas militia. He was an advocate for annexation, and after Texas became the twenty-eighth state, Rusk was elected one of Texas’s first US Senators.

Some of Rusk’s original letters, which were archived at the University of Texas at Austin, caught the eye of graphic designer Brian Willson. Brian used photocopies of those handwritten letters to design a computer font that captured the varying thicks, thins, and rough irregularities of Rusk’s nineteenth-century ink-on-paper handwriting. I was awed at the font’s rustic beauty and enamored with the way the letterforms seemed to scratch and dance across the page. The font, named Texas Hero, seemed to bring Rusk’s words to life.

Prior to seeing Texas Hero, I had never made the association between handwriting, type design, and what could be made with the new font design software. My reaction was immediate. Unequivocal. I’m going to do that someday! I’m going to design a font based on old handwriting! The proclamation was similar to someone gazing at a far-off mountain and, without owning a map or hiking boots, knowing with absolute certainty they would someday climb it.

But I did not equate the effort required to design a font with the effort required to climb a mountain. I thought designing a font would be a quick side project. In fact, I assumed a font based on handwriting would be the perfect first project because irregularities in writing would provide a certain amount of wiggle room for imprecision. How hard could it be to scan someone’s writing and trace the letters?

Years later, I read an interview with Brian Willson where he admitted he underestimated how difficult it would be to design a font based on connected cursive handwriting. The biggest challenge, he explained, was ensuring that individual letters flowed together.

If I had read that interview the day I saw Texas Hero, I might not have started designing a font at all. But by the time I read the interview, I had been working on my font for years. And often, designing a font felt less like hiking a mountain and more like scaling a cliff wall, knowing that at any second an avalanche of technicality might sweep me off my feet.

Dallas never felt like home. Once Aaron completed his fellowship, we packed another U-Haul and returned to Minnesota. Aaron took a job as an emergency room nurse, and I joined the in-house creative team at a large financial services company. I was not enamored with the job, but I accepted the offer because of the ebullient woman who would be my boss, Kathy. She radiated positivity. I wanted to work for her.

Aaron and I bought a small house in White Bear Lake, a suburb north of St. Paul. The house was one of thousands of nearly identical single-level ranch homes built in the early 1950s for booming postwar families. The house’s interior was pink when we bought it: pink scalloped shades, pink blinds, pink paint, pink wallpaper. Aaron said it was like moving into a bottle of Pepto-Bismol. In the first week, we covered nearly every surface with paint. The house was reborn in tones of caramel, sage, and denim blue.

The following summer we adopted Hoover, though he was nameless on the day we carried him home. He was a nine-week-old roly-poly ball of floppy ears, pleading eyes, and massive retriever paws. We were smitten. As he raced across our deck, nose down, sucking up everything in his path, our neighbor commented, “He’s a vacuum cleaner.” Hoover was the perfect name.

The first years in our little house were bliss. After moving six times during the first five years of our marriage, we felt settled. We nested. We talked about having children, but as it turned out, our family never grew beyond our tight little trio.

During those years, I always—though sometimes lazily—kept an eye out for the perfect reference specimen for my font. I looked at museums, in antique stores, on eBay. I hoped to find a specimen with the scratchy character of Thomas Jefferson Rusk’s writing, yet it had to be different somehow. I did not know precisely what it would look like, but I trusted I would know it once I saw it.

I assumed my specimen would be from the late 1800s. I had a particular weakness for handwriting from that era. The combination of graceful restraint and wild flourish appealed to me in the same way someone can be unstoppably drawn to a certain piece of music, a certain flower, a certain shade of blue.

Along the way, I acquired other typographic gems. Many were a dollar or two, and something about them caught my eye: an 1853 Valentine’s Day poem written with a meticulous, rolling cursive; an 1857 legal filing with a tornado-shaped swirl below the lawyer’s signature; an 1863 bank receipt with a spectacular dollar sign; a wedding invitation from 1900 that featured a hand-drawn nesting dove. The specimens had no value to anyone other than a typography lover. In fact, the bank clerk might have had a good laugh at the notion that one hundred and fifty years down the road, someone would buy a scrap of paper that held his flourished scribble.

As much as I treasured those specimens, none were right for a font. The samples were not comprehensive enough. I needed to find a specimen that included numbers, along with a near-complete set of upper and lowercase letters. So I continued to look.

The financial services company where Kathy and I worked eliminated our entire department in one unceremonious snip. Forty-one of us were trimmed off as though we were corporate hangnails. Kathy and I had become good friends and we entertained the notion of starting a business together. Timing was not right, though, so she took a job at a medical device company, and I took a job at a design firm in Minneapolis. We remained in frequent contact, and two years later, when I decided to freelance, Kathy became my first official client.

The first morning as my own boss, a Monday, I could barely contain the swell of excitement. Options and opportunities seemed limitless. I envisioned renting an office in a hip warehouse with soaring windows, a shiny espresso machine, and sleek leather chairs. Bookcases would be artfully arranged with design annuals and type-related knickknacks. Enormous metal letters salvaged from some old factory would hang on exposed-brick walls.

That was the long-term plan, anyway. In the short term, I set up my computer on a desk in a spare bedroom. Books and supplies were stacked in the closet.

That first evening, Aaron took me out to dinner and we toasted to all the possibilities in my exciting new venture. The next morning, the two of us sat on the couch, glued to the live news feed of the 9/11 attacks. Fireballs consumed every shred of optimism. Petty, materialistic wishes for a shiny espresso machine and sleek leather chairs were replaced by disbelief, helplessness, rage. It was unclear how any of us would move forward in this scary new world.

Stillwater is a city of eighteen thousand people twelve miles east of our home. It is nestled along the picturesque St. Croix River, which feeds into the Mississippi twenty or so miles downstream. In the town’s earliest days, trappers, lumbermen, and fearless pioneers scratched out a living along the river, and as the area was settled, sawmills, mercantiles, and inns went up along Stillwater’s bustling main street.

Those historic brick and stone buildings now housed restaurants; shops selling designer kitchen tools, gourmet olive oils, or high-end paper goods; and antique shops peddling a typical mix of dishes, furniture, and books.

In the months after 9/11, Aaron and I went to Stillwater often. We did not understand at the time, but those trips were driven by a yearning to be surrounded by simplicity and nostalgia. For a couple of hours, Stillwater allowed us to trade the reality of the still-smoldering Ground Zero and threats from al-Qaeda for billowing American flags and a communal sense of kindness.

Antiquing with Aaron was always a game. I would hold up some worn-down, obscure item and he would identify what it was: a cigar press, a sugar mold, a hand-held cranberry harvester. If he did not know, he would invent some fantastical use: a nineteenth-century pen warmer, a chicken sorter, a lime peeler. Sometimes I was gullible enough to believe him.

It was during one of those trips that I found Marcel’s letters. What immediately caught my eye was the flourished endearment, “Mes chères petites.” The left leg of the M swooped far to the side and ended with a little loop that made my heart swell. The scratchy, old, ink-on-paper writing was exactly what I had hoped to find. As I stood in the store, I knew with certainty that this handwriting would be the basis for my font.

The handwritten letters were a variety of shapes and sizes. Many were single sheets with writing on the front and back, others were four pages, folded. Some papers were a light butter-colored yellow, other papers were dark like marigold. Some letters had been written with blue ink, others with brown or black. One had been written in pencil. But the signature at the bottom of each letter showed they had all been written by the same man, a man named Marcel.

Aaron looked over my shoulder to see what had so thoroughly seized my attention. I held up one letter, smiling ear to ear.

“For my font,” I whispered. The store was nearly empty. Secrecy was unnecessary.

“Ahhh, the font.” He had heard me mention the project many times, though this was the first time it was more than an abstract, distant idea. “What are they in, French?”

I nodded. That was my guess, anyway.

“Um, honey, you can’t read French,” he whispered, as though he wanted to remind me of something obvious I had forgotten.

“Yes, I can, look: Lily, Jacqueline,” I said as I pointed to names on the front of the letter. I did not recognize anything else, so I flipped the page over and pointed out a few more words: Paris, Denise, 1,300 kilometers. I pointed to another phrase, and in a sultry voice whispered, “Beaucoup de caresses.” I swiveled to look at Aaron and gloat over the words I recognized.

Aaron dropped his chin and rolled his eyes.

It did not matter to me what the original letters said or what language they had been written in. For the purpose of the font, I only needed to reference the shape of the letters. An a in French looked the same as an a in English, after all. The curves, lines, and loops were what mattered. And these curves, lines, and loops were beautiful.
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